FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/28/2022 11:51 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100605-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 81947-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD CORDOVA,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF MARK C. WAGNER

By: Mark C. Wagner WSBA No. 14766 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

6512 20th St Ct W, Ste A PO Box 65170 Tacoma, WA 98464-1170 (253) 460-3265 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. Introduction.

Title 51 RCW must be "liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010. Consistent with this mandate, this Court has stressed that "[i]t was intended that the working people themselves could make and file these claims." Nelson v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus., 9 Wn.2d 621, 629, 115 P.2d 1014 (1941) (quoted source omitted). The Court of Appeals disregarded the plain intent of Title 51 RCW in affirming the denial of workers' compensation benefits to Tracy Cordova, the widow of police detective Ronald Cordova, because, after filing a request for benefits with one state agency she did not file a separate request with another. This Court should accept review and hold that benefits may not be denied based on filing technicalities when the applicant has made plain their intent to seek benefits based on a work-related injury.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' November 22, 2021, decision affirming the trial court's order on summary judgment that affirmed the decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (BIIA) denying Ms. Cordova's application for workers' compensation benefits as untimely, attached as Appendix A to this petition and cited as "Op. ___." The Court of Appeals granted timely motions for publication on December 29, 2021. (Appendix B)

C. Issue Presented for Review.

An application for workers' compensation benefits is sufficient so long as "the writing filed with the [Department of Labor and Industries] reasonably directs its attention to the fact that an injury with its particulars has been sustained and that compensation is claimed." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629. Does an applicant reasonably direct the Department of Labor and Industries' (DLI) attention to the fact an injury has occurred and that benefits are being claimed by filing an application for benefits with the Department of Retirement Systems (DRS) attesting to their "belie[f] [a] death was caused by an injury sustained in the course of employment" that DRS must, under state law, forward to DLI?

D. Statement of the Case.

On April 30, 2017, Ronald Cordova, a detective with the Seattle Police Department, suffered a subarachnoid hemorrhage from a ruptured cerebral aneurysm and died in his home at the age of 46. (Op. 1-2) Det. Cordova's physician believed "[j]ob related stress contributed to" the fatal injury. (BR 114)

When a law enforcement officer dies from a jobrelated injury, a beneficiary may be entitled to two statutory benefits: a special death benefit under the Law Enforcement Officer and Fire Fighter Retirement System Act (LEOFF) and workers' compensation benefits under Title 51 RCW. Upon receiving an application for the LEOFF benefit, DRS must forward the application to DLI for a "determination of eligibility . . . consistent with Title 51 RCW." RCW 41.26.048(2); *see also* WAC 415-02-710(2) (DLI "will determine eligibility" for the LEOFF benefit "consistent with Title 51 RCW"). The two benefits are thus functionally identical: both compensate a beneficiary based on a determination from DLI that the death of a loved one resulted from a job-related injury.

On May 5, 2017, less than a week after Det. Cordova's death, his widow, Tracy Cordova, submitted an application for benefits to DRS on pre-printed DRS forms declaring her "belie[f] the death was caused by an injury sustained in the course of employment." (Op. 2; BR 109-13) The DRS forms do not specify any statutory authority for the benefits, although the medical release form authorizing DLI to obtain Det. Cordova's medical records states the "records will be treated confidentially in accordance with the laws of the state of Washington (RCW 51.28.070)." (BR 113) Ms. Cordova swore under penalty of perjury in the medical release that she was the "spouse of deceased." (BR 113)

DRS did nothing with Ms. Cordova's application for more than six months until November 9, 2017, when it forwarded the application to DLI. (BR 91) Ms. Cordova's application included a copy of the death certificate, the standard DRS forms, the medical release, statements from other officers regarding the circumstances of Det. Cordova's death, and a letter from Det. Cordova's physician. (BR 91)¹

DLI acknowledged receipt of Ms. Cordova's "application for death benefits through the Department of Retirement Systems" but then denied Ms. Cordova benefits because the evidence did "not support that [Det. Cordova's] death was related to an injury[] in the course of employment." (BR 116; Op. 2) Although the order denying Ms. Cordova's claim referenced her "application for the

¹The BIIA struck the supporting materials submitted with Ms. Cordova's application at BR 71-88 and BR 92-114 based on the City's objection that its internal documents were hearsay, inauthentic, and irrelevant. (BR 50 n.5; CP 9-11) Respondents, however, agreed to the admissibility of DRS's email forwarding Ms. Cordova's application to DLI, which confirms Ms. Cordova included with her application a "Death certificate, Application for Death Benefit, Medical release, statements from other officers regarding the date of death, and statement from the doctor who treated" Det. Cordova. (CP 10-11; BR 91, 185-86, 199) The trial court also ruled it could consider the medical release and letter from Dr. Cordova's physician for the fact they were "provided to DRS and passed along to [DLI]." (CP 11) Neither the City nor DLI challenged this ruling in the Court of Appeals.

death benefit provided under RCW 41.26.048," it then went on to explain that it was denying her claim because it did not "aris[e] naturally and proximately out of employment as defined by Title 51." (BR 118)

After the denial, Ms. Cordova retained attorney Mark Wagner who on January 25, 2018, sent a letter notifying DLI that he represented Ms. Cordova "with regard to [her] Labor and Industries claim" and that Ms. Cordova was protesting the order denying her application for benefits. (BR 120; Op. 2) After DLI informed Mr. Wagner that it was "unable to locate a claim for this injured worker" (BR 122), Mr. Wagner sent another letter to DLI reiterating that he represented Ms. Cordova "with regard to the Labor and Industries claim" and providing the claim number that DLI had included in its order denying her benefits. (BR 124; Op. 3)

On May 9, 2018, DLI notified Ms. Cordova that it rejected her protest, finding "no error or injustice" in its ruling because "[t]he cause of [Det. Cordova's] death was not due to ... an injury sustained in the course of employment ... arising naturally and proximately out of employment as defined by Title 51." (BR 130; Op. 3) Ms. Cordova timely appealed that decision to the BIIA. (Op. 3)²

Ms. Cordova engaged in mediation with the City of Seattle and DLI in September 2018. (BR 54, 61) Although Ms. Cordova believed that DLI was reviewing her application to determine her eligibility for the LEOFF death benefit and workers' compensation benefits under Title 51 RCW, during the mediation she learned that DLI believed she had not asked for workers' compensation benefits. (BR 54, 61; Op. 3)

Accordingly, on September 25, 2018, Ms. Cordova filed new forms with DLI again seeking benefits because

² The denial of Ms. Cordova's application for the LEOFF death benefit is being reviewed in Court of Appeals Case No. 828452.

Det. Cordova "passed away at home due to unusual stress from his job." (BR 61, 148, 150; Op. 3)³ DLI denied this application because Det. Cordova's death was "not the result of an industrial injury" and because the application was not "filed . . . within one year after the . . . injury occurred," as required by RCW 51.28.050. (BR 136; Op. 3) Ms. Cordova appealed that decision to the BIIA, which affirmed the denial of benefits (BR 54-55)⁴, and again appealed to the Snohomish County Superior Court, which affirmed the BIIA. (CP 23-40, 218-19)

Ms. Cordova then appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the BIIA in an unpublished and divided decision. The majority reasoned that neither Ms.

 $^{^3}$ The City was required to provide Ms. Cordova these forms and assist her in filing them, but never did. (*See* § E.3, *infra*)

⁴ Because the BIIA found the application untimely, it dismissed the remaining question—whether Det. Cordova's death was work-related—as moot. (BR 54-55)

Cordova's application to DRS, which DRS forwarded to DLI, nor her subsequent communications with DLI were a sufficient application for workers' compensation benefits. (Op. 4-9) Judge Stephen Dwyer wrote separately to express "dismay at the state of the law concerning the requirement that a writing be filed with [DLI] in order to pursue a workers' compensation claim" (Dwyer, J., dissenting in part, Op. 1), reiterating the concerns he first expressed in Magee v. Rite Aid, 144 Wn. App. 1, 12, 182 P.3d 429 (Dwyer, J., concurring), rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1036 (2008). Given the "confused" state of the law, Judge Dwyer "urged that either the legislature cure the problem by statute or that the Supreme Court ride to the rescue," emphasizing that "[w]idows are not supposed to have to hire lawyers in order to receive widow's benefits." (Dwyer, J., dissenting in part, Op. 1-3) On December 29, 2021, the Court of Appeals granted motions to publish the decision. (Appendix B)

E. Reasons the Court Should Accept Review.

1. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's command that Title 51 RCW must be liberally construed to minimize the suffering and economic loss of working families.

It is undisputed that Ms. Cordova timely applied for a LEOFF death benefit under RCW 41.26.048. The sole issue here is whether Ms. Cordova also sufficiently applied for workers' compensation benefits under Title 51 RCW. The Court of Appeals' holding that she did not conflicts with the requirement—embodied in both the statute itself and this Court's precedent—that Title 51 RCW be liberally construed in favor of workers. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Title 51 RCW must be "liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010. Under RCW 51.28.030, a beneficiary seeking workers' compensation on behalf of a deceased worker "shall make application for the same to the department or self-insurer ... which application must be accompanied with proof of death and proof of relationship showing the parties to be entitled to compensation." The application must also be filed "within one year after the day upon which the injury occurred or the rights of dependents or beneficiaries accrued." RCW 51.28.050.

Consistent with the mandate for liberal construction, this Court has made clear that the requirement to file an "application" is not onerous. For example, in *Nelson*, DLI declined to consider a worker's claim based on a back injury because notice of that injury was first provided in a petition seeking rehearing of the denial of a different injury. Acknowledging that the claimant provided DLI notice of the back injury in a "somewhat irregular" manner, this Court nonetheless reversed, stressing that the statute was intended to allow working people to easily obtain compensation and thus cannot be applied in a manner that denies benefits based on procedural technicalities:

The Workman's Compensation Law was particularly framed to avoid legal terminology and technicalities of law pleading. It was intended that the working people themselves could make and file these claims and give notice of the injury. The cost and expense of employing attorneys were to be avoided, if possible. The act was for the benefit of the working man and his family, not for the profession.

9 Wn.2d at 629 (quoted source omitted).

This Court further stressed that "[t]here is no particular form of pleading required to give" DLI notice of a claim and that "[a]nything filed with [DLI] that challenges its attention, causes it to act, is sufficient . . . to see that compensation is paid to injured employees." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 630. Thus, DLI may not apply "formal and highly technical requirement[s] such as might apply to a pleading" when considering requests for compensation; instead, a worker or beneficiary "substantially complie[s] with" the statute so "long as the writing filed with the department reasonably directs its attention to the fact that an injury with its particulars has been sustained and that compensation is claimed." 9 Wn.2d at 629.

Similarly, in *Beels v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 178 Wash. 301, 308, 34 P.2d 917 (1934), this Court stressed that an application for benefits is sufficient, regardless of its form, if it "fairly gave to the department such information as the law intends." In that case, this Court affirmed the trial court's grant of benefits to a sheriff's widow and rejected DLI's argument that it properly denied benefits because the widow had filed a form "used only by workmen seeking payment for time loss or disability compensation" and not the form used for claiming pension death benefits. 178 Wash. at 305-06. In rejecting DLI's argument, this Court emphasized the widow's application was sufficient because it "apprised the department that the claimant was the widow of a deputy sheriff who died as the result of an injury sustained in the course of his employment," as detailed by reports from the deceased's employer and attending physician. 178 Wash. at 308.

The Court of Appeals' holding that Ms. Cordova did not submit a sufficient "application" directly conflicts with *Nelson* and *Beels*. Ms. Cordova sent DRS an application, which it then forwarded to DLI as required by law, providing the details of her husband's death, alleging that work related stress caused her husband's fatal aneurysm, and unequivocally requesting a "duty-related death benefit." (BR 109-14) Ms. Cordova also provided a death certificate, a statement under penalty of perjury that she was the "spouse of deceased," information from Det. Cordova's employer and co-workers regarding the circumstances of his death, and a letter from his physician. (BR 91, 113-14) This is all the information (and more) that RCW 51.28.030 requires a beneficiary to include with an

"application" for benefits when "death results from injury." DLI thus undisputedly had all the information it needed to process a claim for workers' compensation benefits.

Ms. Cordova again complied with RCW 51.28.050 when her attorney sent not one, but two letters notifying DLI that he represented Ms. Cordova "with regard to the Labor and Industries claim" and that Ms. Cordova intended to protest the order denying her application for benefits. (BR 120, 124 (emphasis added)) The Court of Appeals' holding that DLI could have somehow remained ignorant of the fact that Ms. Cordova sought compensation because her husband died from work induced stress cannot be squared with this evidence, which was more than sufficient to "direct[] [DLI's] attention to the fact that an injury ... ha[d] been sustained and that compensation is claimed." Nelson, 9 Wn.2d at 629.

The Court of Appeals erroneously reasoned this case was distinguishable from *Nelson* because Ms. Cordova

"had no existing Title 51 RCW claim" and that her application "made no mention of workers' compensation benefits and sought only an LEOFF one-time death payout—a separate benefit from a different government agency." (Op. 6-7) But the application-submitted on standard DRS forms—does not identify any authorizing statute, such as RCW 41.26.048 or RCW 51.28.030, and refers only generally to "a Lump Sum Benefit Payment" and a "one-time duty-related death benefit." (BR 109, 111) The Court of Appeals' decision to foreclose one statutory remedy because the DRS forms do not expressly distinguish between the statutory grounds for benefits contravenes this Court's instruction in Nelson and Beels: DLI must not dismiss applications based on legal technicalities because it is the information provided by an applicant-and not the form submitted-that determines whether an application is sufficient.

The Court of Appeals' decision also ignores that the same evidence—proof of a work-related death—is required for benefits under both LEOFF claims and workers' compensation claims, as DLI itself stressed to Ms. Cordova in repeatedly denying her request for the LEOFF benefit because it did not satisfy the requirements "as defined by Title 51." (BR 118, 130) No reasonable person would interpret a request for one of two functionally identical benefits to exclude the other, nor is there any logical reason for a person to apply for one benefit but not the other.

At its core, the Court of Appeals' decision punishes Ms. Cordova because she filed one form instead of two, contrary to this Court's admonition that Title 51 RCW must be applied such that "the working people themselves could make and file these claims." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629. It also absurdly requires beneficiaries to file redundant forms. Ms. Cordova's renewed workers' compensation application provided no information DLI did not already have in the

DRS forms; that application did nothing except reiterate Ms. Cordova's belief that Det. Cordova "passed away at home due to unusual stress from his job." (BR 134) This Court has repeatedly stressed an interpretation of a statute "that produces absurd results must be avoided." *Tingey v. Haisch*, 159 Wn.2d 652, 664, ¶ 21, 152 P.3d 1020 (2007).

Moreover, by providing that DRS must forward any application for LEOFF benefits to DLI to determine eligibility "consistent with Title 51 RCW," RCW 41.26.048(2) gives applicants the impression they can seek both benefits simply by filing an application with DRS. WAC 415-02-710 reinforces that impression by stating LEOFF benefits "consistent with workers' are compensation law, Title 51 RCW" and that DLI "will determine eligibility consistent with Title 51 RCW and applicable retirement statutes," such as "chapter 41.26 RCW (LEOFF)." (emphasis added) As Judge Dwyer noted, "to 'file' the writing does not require action akin to service

of process in a civil action," but can instead be satisfied when, as required by RCW 41.26.048(2), DRS "transmit[s] documents sent to them . . . to [DLI] for claim handling." (Dwyer, J., dissenting in part, Op. 2) *See also Continental Sports Corp. v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 128 Wn.2d 594, 602-03, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996) (employer substantially complied with RCW 51.48.131 by delivering notice of appeal via Federal Express instead of USPS).

It is thus entirely understandable that Ms. Cordova, or any other applicant, would have no idea a separate application was required for workers' compensation benefits, contrary to the Court of Appeals' contention that Ms. Cordova should have understood she needed to file a separate form with DLI. That is especially true given that DRS's medical release form authorizes *DLI* to review records "so that [DLI] can administer and process my claim." (BR 113) Ms. Cordova's belief that no additional application was necessary is even more reasonable

considering that neither the City nor DLI fulfilled their legal duties to Ms. Cordova, which required DLI to inform her of the benefits she was entitled to seek under Title 51 RCW and required the City to provide her the form it now faults her for not filing and *assist her with filing it*. (*See* § E.3, *infra*)

The Court of Appeals also wrongly relied on *Magee* to conclude that "[n]othing in the application would reasonably cause DLI in their role as DRS pension adjudicator to conclude that [Ms. Cordova] was also seeking workers' compensation benefits." (Op. 8-9) Ms. Cordova's multiple contacts with DLI stand in stark contrast to *Magee*, where the Court of Appeals rejected the plaintiff's claim that pleadings in a civil lawsuit, in which DLI was not a party, were an "application" for workers' compensation benefits. 144 Wn. App. at 11, ¶¶ 27-28. Here, Ms. Cordova filed an application with DRS that DLI is *required by law* to consider and that DLI has the sole

authority to grant or deny. RCW 41.26.048(2); WAC 415-02-710(3).

The Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with this Court's precedent and the mandate for liberal interpretation in RCW 51.12.010. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

> 2. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this confused area of law affects thousands of Washington's public servants and their families.

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