FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/29/2022 3:07 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100605-5

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### RONALD CORDOVA,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondents.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389–3820

### **

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Cordova meets none of RAP 13.4 criteria that she cites for review. Her decision to treat her LEOFF application as a workers' compensation claim was a unique strategic choice unique to her, not an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Also, unique to her, though L&I told her it had no record of a workers' compensation claim and asked her to file one (AR 122), her attorney "made no effort" to explain to L&I that she sought both LEOFF and workers' compensation benefits. *Cordova*, 501 P.3d at 605.

Cordova's strategic choice to treat her LEOFF application as a workers' compensation claim will not affect "thousands of Washington's public servants and their families" (Pet. 22). It is far more likely they will follow the usual statutory process to apply for workers' compensation and will respond to L&I if made aware they haven't applied.

Further, Cordova shows no conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). The Court of Appeals did not "ignore[] this Court's command" to liberally construe the Industrial Insurance Act (Pet. 11); instead, it cited the liberal construction doctrine and applied *Nelson*'s standard about what constitutes an "application" for workers' compensation benefits.

Cordova also cannot establish equitable estoppel. This is a meritless position when L&I informed her that she needed to apply for benefits.

**A.** Cordova's Unique Theory About Applying for Workers' Compensation Benefits Does Not

# Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as It Affects Only Her

Cordova did not heed L&I's notice to send a report of accident to start a workers' compensation claim. AR 122. She instead allowed the one-year statute of limitations to file a workers' compensation claim to run.

The Legislature created a clear process for survivors to apply for workers' compensation death benefits when "death results from the injury." RCW 51.32.050(1). Survivors must file an application with "[L&I] or [the] self-insurer as the case may be." RCW 51.28.030. And, under case law, the application must be a "writing filed with the department" that "reasonably directs its attention to the fact that an injury with its particulars has been sustained and that compensation is claimed." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629. Survivors must file a claim within one year of the injury. RCW 51.28.050. These are basic filing requirements, not "filing technicalities" Pet. 1.

Many survivors have followed this procedure to obtain workers' compensation death benefits under RCW 51.32.050,

as a brief review of case law illuminates. *See*, *e.g.*, *Thorpe v*.

Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 145 Wash. 498, 499, 261 P. 85 (1927);

Dep't of Lab. & Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870, 877, 288

P.3d 390 (2012). But Cordova never did, though L&I informed her it was necessary. AR 122.

Cordova argues that the workers' compensation and LEOFF death benefits were "functionally identical benefits" and that the Court of Appeals "requires beneficiaries to file redundant forms." Pet. 18. Not so. Though L&I determines eligibility for both benefits, the benefits have different eligibility criteria and are paid by separate entities and from separate funds.

To assess eligibility, L&I needs distinct information for each benefit. Eligibility for the LEOFF special death benefit turns not just on "proof of a work-related death" (Pet. 18), but also on the decedent's status as a full-time, fully compensated LEOFF member meeting the relevant definition of "law enforcement officer" or "firefighter." *See* RCW 41.26.030,

.040; WAC 415-02-710(2). Under workers' compensation, any worker acting in the course of employment and not statutorily excluded may receive benefits. RCW 51.08.013; RCW 51.12.020.

The benefits differ in how they are paid as well. As a self-insured employer, the City of Seattle funds its employees' workers' compensation benefits. RCW 51.14.170. For state fund employers, L&I pays workers from funds that consist of employers' and employees' contributions. RCW 51.04.020(2); RCW 51.16.035, .140; RCW 51.44.010, .020. LEOFF benefits are paid from an actuarial reserve system, including member contributions. RCW 41.26.020.

In any case, survivors should choose what benefits to seek, not L&I. *Nelson* requires an objectively verifiable request for workers' compensation benefits that preserves workers' choice. Requiring a public agency to be a mind reader places the agency in "an untenable position." *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 409, 960 P.2d 447 (1998). Here, L&I

even explained how to file a workers' compensation claim if Cordova wished to do so.

Cordova posits, without evidence, that other survivors of deceased officers and firefighters will face her situation. Pet. 26. Much more likely is that they will follow the statutory procedure for filing a workers' compensation claim, which just requires basic information about an injury and can be filed on L&I's report of accident form. No evidence exists that others routinely disregard L&I's disavowal of a claim, as Cordova did. Even if there was any confusion, the Court of Appeals' decision puts to rest the notion that a survivor can ignore L&I or rely on a LEOFF application for workers' compensation.

### B. Cordova Shows No Conflict With This Court's Decisions in *Nelson* or *Beels*

Cordova shows no conflict with *Nelson* to justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Under *Nelson*, a writing is an application for workers' compensation benefits if it "reasonably directs [L&I's] attention to the fact that an injury with its particulars has been sustained and that compensation is

claimed." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629. Necessarily, under this objective standard, it is L&I's perspective—not the worker's—that is relevant. Cordova's LEOFF application did not reasonably direct L&I to "an injury with its particulars" or to a claim for workers' compensation.

Nothing in Cordova's LEOFF application to DRS directed L&I's attention to the injury's particulars. She left the space blank that asked about the injury (AR 69), and though DRS sent L&I statements from a doctor and co-workers with the alleged injury's details (AR 91), the substance of the doctor's statement was excluded as hearsay, and the coworkers' statements were stricken as irrelevant, unauthenticated, and inadmissible hearsay. CP 30-31. Cordova did not assign error to any of the superior court's evidentiary rulings. Appellant's Br. 1. So no admissible evidence backs Cordova's claims that the officers' statements "support[ed] Ms. Cordova's application to DRS" or described "the circumstances" of his death, besides the date. Pet. 5, 31 (citing

AR 91). Accordingly, there is insufficient evidence of the injury's particulars under *Nelson*.

Even more crucially under *Nelson*, the LEOFF application did not reasonably direct L&I that Cordova claimed workers' compensation. *Nelson* is distinguishable because the worker there sent a petition to L&I that described a new injury to the worker, but which L&I treated as solely relating to previously identified injuries on an existing workers' compensation claim. 9 Wn.2d at 624-25, 628-30. Here, in contrast, Cordova directed no document to L&I until the statute of limitations ran.

Cordova argues that the *Nelson* standard is not "onerous" (Pet. 12) and that the Court of Appeals "punishes" her "because she filed one form instead of two." Pet. 18. But it is not onerous to file an application that "reasonably directs [L&I's] attention to the fact that an injury with its particulars has been sustained and that compensation is claimed." *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629.

Nor is it punishment to require a spouse to follow RCW

51.28.030—which requires that a spouse "shall make [an] application." Requiring an application specific to workers' compensation furthers the Legislature's intent in RCW 51.28.030.

Cordova's whole argument incorrectly assumes that the LEOFF death benefit is the same as the death benefit under the Industrial Insurance Act. Pet. 18. But as discussed above (*see supra* Part IV.A), this is not correct because the benefits have different eligibility criteria and are paid by different agencies using distinct funds, so when this argument crumbles away, Cordova would have to concede that she must file a workers' compensation claim.

Cordova asserts that the same evidence would be used to apply for either benefit (Pet. 18), but this ignores the distinct eligibility criteria and the fact that, under *Nelson*, L&I cannot adjudicate a claim for which it lacks notice. L&I does not have notice of a workers' compensation claim merely because it receives documents relevant to a claim, like a death certificate,

co-worker statements, or a doctor's letter. *Contra* Pet. 15-16. Such documents here did not "reasonably direct" L&I's attention to the fact that Cordova sought benefits apart from the LEOFF benefit, especially where L&I disavowed any claim. Notice to L&I is key to impose a requirement to act on a claim for benefits. *See Boyd v. City of Olympia*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 17, 30, 403 P.3d 956 (2017).

That no authorizing statute appeared on the DRS application does not matter. Pet. 17. In assessing whether L&I's attention was reasonably directed to a workers' compensation claim, it is relevant that the LEOFF application had the DRS logo, listed DRS on every page, identified LEOFF as the benefit source, required remittance to DRS, and asked for a "one-time duty-related death benefit" in cash. AR 67-70. Each of these facts reasonably directed L&I to believe that Cordova claimed a one-time lump-sum payment under LEOFF, not workers' compensation. Also, under workers' compensation law, survivors' death benefits are not a one-time benefit; they

are paid monthly, which is relevant to L&I's understanding of Cordova's request. *See* RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). It was not a "legal technicalit[y]" to discern the nature of Cordova's request. *Contra* Pet. 17.

Her attorney's letters also did not claim workers' compensation (or identify an injury) under the Nelson standard. Contra Pet. 16. Confusingly, they told L&I that he represented Cordova on "the Labor and Industries claim referenced above," though no L&I claim was listed above in his letter. AR 120. L&I responded that it had no record of any claim and told Cordova where to send a report of accident, which she did not do. AR 122. After receiving no workers' compensation application in response, L&I quite reasonably could have believed that Cordova's attorney referred to her DRS claim in his letter. And, indeed, L&I treated his correspondence as a notice of appearance and protest for the LEOFF claim. See AR 126.

Cordova argues that, after her attorney's letters, L&I could not have "remained ignorant" that she "sought compensation because her husband died from work induced stress." Pet. 16. But she identified no injury from "stress" in her DRS application (AR 69), and the doctor's opinion and coworkers' statements that she appears to rely on for this argument (Pet. 15-16) were excluded on various grounds, including hearsay, authentication, and relevance. CP 30-31.

Cordova also shows no conflict with *Beels v. Department* of Labor & Industries, 178 Wash. 301, 34 P.2d 917 (1934).

Contra Pet. 14-15, 17. In *Beels*, unlike here, the surviving spouse applied for workers' compensation death benefits "on a form supplied by [L&I] for reports of accidents." 178 Wash. at 302. Though her husband never applied for workers' compensation benefits during his life, the Court allowed her claim as a "new, original right arising from his death." *Id.* at 307.

In both *Nelson* and *Beels*, the worker filed a writing with L&I (a petition in *Nelson*, a report of accident in *Beels*) that both described the work injury *and* claimed workers' compensation benefits. That meets the "reasonably directs" standard under *Nelson*.<sup>4</sup>

Cordova's DRS application did not meet the *Nelson* standard. Her situation is like *Magee v. Rite Aid*, 144 Wn. App. 1, 182 P.3d 429 (2008), as the Court of Appeals noted. There, the court, applying *Nelson*, found that a self-insurer did not have notice of a workers' compensation claim when it received information about a supervisor's conduct from a civil lawsuit. *Magee*, 144 Wn. App. at 10-11. Though Cordova tries to distinguish *Magee* because she had "multiple contacts" with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Court has never suggested that *Nelson*'s notice standard is "of limited utility." Pet. 24 (citing *Kovacs v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 95, 99-100, 375 P.3d 669 (2016)). *Kovacs* just clarified dicta in *Nelson* about when the one-year period for filing claims begins to run. 186 Wn.2d at 100. That clarification has no impact here, as Cordova filed her claim five months late.

L&I (Pet. 21), which processes LEOFF benefit applications, that distinction does not undermine *Magee*'s rationale where the contacts (a DRS application and her attorney's letters) never notified L&I that Cordova sought workers' compensation. Simply because DRS, by law, sends LEOFF benefit applications to L&I for adjudication does not reasonably direct L&I that an applicant seeks workers' compensation benefits in addition to the LEOFF benefits referred to in the DRS application.<sup>5</sup>

# C. Cordova Shows No Reason to Abrogate *Nelson*, Which Protects Worker Choice

Cordova's argument to "revisit" *Nelson* is internally inconsistent. Pet. 24-25. She argues that she met the standard by filing the DRS application, while also asking the Court to "revisit" it. Pet. 2-3, 15-17, 24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> By explaining that L&I determines eligibility for the LEOFF benefit, RCW 41.26.048(2) and WAC 415-02-710(3) do not "give[] applicants the impression they can seek both benefits simply by filing an application with DRS." Pet. 19. They state only that L&I determines eligibility for the LEOFF benefit using RCW Title 51 standards.

She also proposes no alternative test. If she's suggesting that L&I should process workers' compensation claims whenever it acquires documents that could sustain a claim, such a rule would eviscerate worker choice. Though Cordova uses "bureaucratic" as a pejorative (Pet. 25-26, 31), such a rule could lead to L&I unilaterally allowing or rejecting claims even if a worker doesn't want to file a claim.

Nelson's longevity is evidence of its soundness, not a sound reason to overrule it. Contra Pet. 23. That self-insurers and LEOFF benefits did not exist when the Court decided Nelson is immaterial. Pet. 23-24. The Magee concurrence that Cordova cites for support does not articulate any specific change to workers' compensation law after Nelson that would call its rationale into question. Pet. 24. Time alone does not make a rule go bad.

# D. Review is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to Apply Liberal Construction Where Cordova Has Identified No Ambiguity

Cordova cites RAP 13.4(b)(1), but she shows no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and this Court's application of the doctrine of liberal construction under RCW 51.12.010. The doctrine applies only when there is a statutory ambiguity, and she identifies none. RCW 51.12.010; *Harris v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). The Court of Appeals did not "ignore[]" the doctrine; it cited and discussed the doctrine. Pet. 11; *Cordova*, 501 P.3d at 604.

### E. Review is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) on Equitable Estoppel Grounds when Cordova Cites No Conflicting Case

Cordova fails to cite any case from this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)) or the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)) that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' equitable estoppel holding. Pet. 26-32. Review is unwarranted on this basis.

Rather than cite any conflicting decision (*see* Pet. 26-32), Cordova challenges the Court of Appeals' equitable estoppel rationale. That is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b) but, in any case, equitable estoppel does not apply against L&I or the City.

Equitable estoppel against the government is disfavored. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 20, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). A party asserting estoppel against the government must prove each of five elements by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *Campbell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 150 Wn.2d 881, 902, 83 P.3d 999 (2004). The five necessary elements, which Cordova does not cite or apply, are:

- (1) An admission, act, or statement by the government that is inconsistent with a later claim;
- (2) the asserting party acted in reasonable reliance on the admission, act, or statement;
- injury would result to the asserting party if the government was "permitted to repudiate or contradict the earlier admission, act, or statement";
- (4) estoppel "is necessary to prevent a manifest injustice"; *and*

(5) granting of estoppel "must not impair the exercise of government functions."

Id.

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